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Introduction


Sunderland is a city of ancient origin, but its modern form is largely a product of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, when coalmining and shipbuilding fuelled rapid expansion and development. This book examines Sunderland’s architectural history during the highpoint of its growth and prosperity. The elegant buildings of the Georgian period became vital components of the town’s developing infrastructure. The Victorian period imbued Sunderland with new churches and chapels, as well as a diverse range of public and commercial buildings. Finally, the exuberant buildings of the Edwardian period represent the pinnacle of Sunderland’s architectural achievement. Exploring these structures in depth, this book also examines the major architectural practices that contributed to the formation of Sunderland’s built environment.


Outwardly Sunderland is an ordinary provincial city with no great claim to significance. Its architecture largely conforms to national patterns in terms of styles, building materials and construction methods. However, the city exhibits many achievements and local curiosities that are worthy of note. Its townscape is studded with buildings of architectural and historical interest, from the classical church of Holy Trinity to the spectacular mansions of Victorian industrialists [Fig 1]. St Andrew’s Church at Roker is a building of national significance, a magnificent Arts and Crafts church featuring designs by William Morris and Sir Edward Burne-Jones. Further down the social hierarchy, Sunderland developed a distinctive form of workers’ housing known as Sunderland cottages, which are virtually unique in England. Placing these buildings in their historical context, the book explores the economic, social and cultural forces that shaped Sunderland’s architecture and landscape.


A number of important studies of Sunderland’s development have been published in recent years. Most significantly, the Victoria County History produced two valuable books, Sunderland and Its Origins: Monks to Mariners by Maureen M. Meikle and Christine M. Newman (2008) and Sunderland: Building a City by Gill Cookson (2010). These provide a comprehensive analysis of Sunderland’s historical development and its urban form, but discussion of the city’s architecture is by necessity limited. The current study attempts to locate Sunderland’s architectural history in the context of the national mainstream, revealing how the major trends and debates within British architecture influenced the townscape. Discussion focuses on the buildings erected within the old Borough of Sunderland during the period 1700–1914. These chronological parameters encompass a time of remarkable prosperity and expansion. The creation of Sunderland parish in 1719 coincided with an economic boom and the building of new streets and houses. At the end of our period, the catastrophe of the First World War provides an appropriate stopping point. Much of Sunderland’s architectural heritage has already been lost to developers, and for this reason the book uses archival documents and images to reconstruct its vanishing townscapes. In the text, * denotes a building that has been demolished.


Modern Sunderland did not develop from one central nucleus, but from three smaller settlements clustered around the mouth of the River Wear [Plate 1]. The oldest was Monkwearmouth, a monastic settlement on the north bank. South of the river and further inland, Bishopwearmouth belonged (as its name suggests) to the Bishops of Durham. To the east lay the ‘sundered land’, so called because it was divided from the lands of the Wearmouth monks by the river. This area was designated Sunderland parish in 1719, and the township began to spread along the line of High Street, eventually fusing with the older parish of Bishopwearmouth. The building of the Wearmouth Bridge in 1796 joined these areas with the ancient parish of Monkwearmouth to the north. From this point on Sunderland was increasingly recognised as a single town, and the three parishes were officially incorporated in 1835.


During this period Sunderland’s prosperity was largely based on coal. Beginning in the seventeenth century, coal from across the Durham coalfield was transported down the river in flat-bottomed keels before being transferred into collier brigs and shipped down the coast. From 1815 new railways and wagonways facilitated this process. Wearmouth Colliery, at one time the deepest in the world, began producing in 1835, and the South Docks were built in 1850 to allow ever greater quantities of coal to be shipped. Ancillary industries developed in response to this burgeoning trade: lime-burning, salt-making, pottery-making and glass-making all flourished thanks to the steady supply of cheap coal. A notable success was James Hartley’s Glassworks, located above the Lambton and Hetton coal-drops near Galley’s Gill. Glass was Sunderland’s leading export after coal and salt, and by 1850 Hartley was producing a third of all plate glass made in Britain.1


Sunderland’s other great industry was of course shipbuilding. This was first recorded in Hendon in 1346, and the industry was well established by 1717 when the River Wear Commission was founded. The Commissioners dredged the river and made a series of improvements to the town’s infrastructure. Private companies built a South Pier (1726–59) and North Pier (1788–1802), as well as the North Dock (1837), Hudson Dock (1850) and Hendon Dock (1868). These were significant feats of engineering which transformed Sunderland’s commercial prospects. During the nineteenth century shipbuilding became Sunderland’s dominant industry, employing 20 per cent of the town’s workforce. Scores of shipyards lined the river banks, initially occupied with the construction of wooden vessels. Adapting to new technologies, the town’s first iron ship was built in 1852 and steel ships were being produced by 1882. Shipbuilding was key to the town’s identity and a major source of pride to workers and their families. Indeed, nineteenth-century Sunderland regarded itself as the largest shipbuilding town in the world.


Industry left its scars on the landscape and cast a black pall across the sky, but it also fuelled much of the architectural development that Sunderland experienced from the seventeenth century onwards. Coal-fitters and ship-owners erected fine houses for their own occupation, as well as churches and other amenities for the working populace.2 As the town became industrialised, the affluent middle class moved to superior terraced housing on the Fawcett Estate. However, the opening of Wearmouth Bridge in 1796 transformed Fawcett Street into Sunderland’s major north-south axis, and by 1850 it was developing into a commercial rather than a residential street. The wealthiest citizens moved to the suburbs beyond Mowbray Park, many building private villas in fashionable architectural styles. The working classes lived in terraces built around sites of industry, many of them in the distinctive single-storey terraces known as Sunderland cottages.


Industrial activity stimulated massive population growth. At the start of the nineteenth century Sunderland’s population stood at 26,511. By the end of the century it had soared to 182,260.3 With the town growing in scale and complexity, effective administration became a pressing need. Unfortunately, Sunderland’s local government was characterised by conflict and confusion for much of the period under study. In 1851, however, the Sunderland Borough Act greatly clarified this situation, abolishing all commissioners except the River Wear Commissioners and giving their powers to the Corporation. An Improvement Act was passed in 1867, enabling the Corporation to tackle unsanitary areas, and a new Improvement Committee was established under the leadership of Alderman James Williams.


Prosperity engendered civic pride, and this was manifested in a wave of new buildings. Sunderland’s elite citizens endowed the town with private villas, speculative housing and much-needed public amenities, including museums, libraries, schools, hospitals, public parks and a Town Hall. These were vital components of any ambitious town. Throughout this tumultuous development Sunderland’s architecture broadly followed the patterns observed in other provincial towns and cities. During the nineteenth century Britain became the richest and most powerful country in the world, but Victorian architecture was dominated by the influence of the past. The major stylistic movements of the period were Neoclassicism and the Gothic Revival. Neoclassicism was based on the architecture of Ancient Greece and Rome; it strove for harmony and perfection in its use of symmetry and exact mathematical proportions. The Gothic Revival aimed to resurrect the architecture and the fabled spirituality of the Middle Ages. The style was inspired by nature – conceived as God’s creation – and for this reason it was mainly used for religious buildings. The hallmark of the Gothic style is the pointed arch. Ribbed vaults, sculpted foliage and sinuous tracery derived from plant forms are also characteristic. These styles were used alongside each other, and became locked in a bitter rivalry known as the Battle of the Styles.


Neoclassicism dominated eighteenth- and early nineteenth-century architecture in the North East. In the 1830s, for example, the neighbouring town of Newcastle was transformed by the speculative builder Richard Grainger (1797–1861), who used the talents of architects like John Dobson (1787–1865), John and Benjamin Green, and Walker and Wardle to lay out stately classical streets. Sunderland made a number of attempts to emulate the classical townscapes of Newcastle, without much success, but here too classicism was the dominant idiom until the mid-nineteenth century. Holy Trinity Church (1719), the Exchange Building (1814), the *Athenaeum (1839) and terraced housing on the Fawcett Estate (c.1820–45) all display elements of classicism. In the field of ecclesiastical architecture, classicism was eventually supplanted by the Gothic style. Sunderland’s first Gothic Revival building was *St Thomas’s Church (1829), and a wave of neo-medieval churches followed, their soaring spires forming prominent elements in the townscape. The power of the Gothic Revival was such that it extended beyond the religious sphere and was used for building types that had no medieval precedents, including railway stations and office buildings.


The Industrial Revolution transformed Britain during this period and had many positive effects, but it also spawned such evils as pollution, slum housing and child labour. The Arts and Crafts movement was a reaction against the horrors of industry, and in particular its impact upon the decorative arts. The leader of the movement was William Morris (1834–96), a writer, designer and social reformer. In his view, machine-made goods were inferior to handcrafted products and machine production reduced the worker to a slave, crushing all possibility of artistic expression. A Libertarian Socialist, Morris wished to create a society that valued the worker and simple, honest craftsmanship. Very soon Morris gathered a following among young designers; this was the basis of the Arts and Crafts movement. A central principle of their work was truth to materials: advocates used materials in ways that were appropriate to their properties and which celebrated their variety, colour and texture. Sunderland is fortunate to possess one of the finest expressions of Arts and Crafts architecture in Britain, St Andrew’s Church at Roker (1907). In the domestic sphere, Langham Tower (1886–91) is a Victorian mansion inspired by Norman Shaw’s groundbreaking designs for Cragside in Northumberland. The local architect C.A. Clayton Greene (1874–1949) designed a number of buildings in an Arts and Crafts idiom, including St Gabriel’s Church (1912) and Hammerton Hall (1914). These buildings survive as highlights in the sprawling townscape, while the surrounding infrastructure serves to illuminate the major patterns of provincial building in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. Viewed from a national perspective, Sunderland’s architecture may not be distinctive, but it arose from a fascinating local context and was shaped by the town’s economic growth and by its people.





[image: Book title]


1 Sunderland, c.1860, showing the principal streets and features of the town. (By permission of the VCH Executive Editor. Copyright University of London: Cath D’Alton)




1


Early Development


In the eighteenth century three local Acts of Parliament were passed which were to have a significant effect on the growth and development of Sunderland. In 1717 the River Wear Commissioners were established to bring order to trade on the river, and to provide a framework for developing the economic opportunities of the port. In 1719 the parish of Sunderland was created. This began the Church of England’s efforts to cope with the pressures presented by the expanding town, and gave the new parish some organs of local government. Finally, in 1792 an act permitting the building of Wearmouth Bridge made it possible to view the town as a single entity rather than a collection of parishes. If we add the Improvement Act of 1809, which provided the beginnings of a local government structure for the whole township, then Sunderland had gained a framework that would underpin the growth of the town in the subsequent century. All of these acts had implications for building and the design of the townscape, but the one that had the most immediate impact was the creation of Holy Trinity parish.


Origins of a Township


Holy Trinity Church was built at the outset of the Georgian period (1714–1830), an age of elegance and grace in English architecture. The church was designed in the classical style as if to mark the new parish as quite distinct from Bishopwearmouth. The design was radically different from the medieval Gothic of St Michael’s Church, and the use of brick contrasted with the stone of Sunderland’s two older churches. It was also intended as an auditory church, where the congregation would listen to a charismatic preacher, in contrast to the ritual churches that were built to follow Catholic liturgy. Holy Trinity was a bright, modern church for a new age of prosperity and progress [Plate 2].


The design is attributed to William Etty of York (c.1675–1734) on the basis that he was paid for ‘admeasurements in the body of the church’. This has been disputed by some commentators, and the reference may simply indicate that Etty was working as a joiner on woodwork within the building.4 However, Etty was also an architect who worked with Sir John Vanbrugh, Colen Campbell and Nicholas Hawksmoor during his career, and he designed a church in Leeds, which coincidentally was also called Holy Trinity (1722–27). He would therefore have been capable of designing a classical church.5 Externally the church is a modest symmetrical design with a tower at the extreme end of the nave. The whole is executed in red brick made of clay dug from the Town Moor. Dressings of sandstone impart a sense of dignity to the frontage. Tuscan pilasters are clasped to the façade and the large central door is set within a heavily rusticated arch. The tower is a square structure that originally terminated with a cupola, but now only the four pinnacles at the corners remain. Rusticated dressings strengthen the tower itself. The original short chancel still projects at the rear, but a circular apse was added by Rector Daniel Newcome in 1735.


The exterior is modest, but the interior is a revelation. Internally there are no shadowed enclaves or ‘dim religious light’, but rather a simple rectangular space suffused with light from clear glass windows [Fig 3]. The rectilinear nave is divided by Corinthian columns that support a rich entablature. Each column rests upon a panelled wooden plinth. These originally rose from an expanse of wooden box pews, but the pews were replaced by fine benches in 1935, made using the original oak.6 At the west end of the nave is a gallery supported on slender Corinthian columns of extremely fine workmanship.7 The new church also functioned as a seat of local government, and the gallery makes a display of its political loyalties: the arms of George I are flanked by those of the bishops of Durham and London. This was intended to show the parish’s loyalty to the Hanoverian succession and indicate that it would give no support to either the Catholic Stuarts or to the republicanism of some Nonconformists. At the east end a low communion rail of turned balusters extends across the breadth of the church. A charming feature is the bow-shaped gate that swings open to allow access to the altar. The pulpit is now situated to one side of the nave but originally stood in front of the altar, where it asserted the primacy of the Word over ritual.


Above the altar, the chancel arch is enriched to form an elaborate Baroque reredos reminiscent of the work of Wren and Hawksmoor. Paired Corinthian columns support a round arch with winged cherubs’ heads beaming down from its summit. Towering above are three broken pediments enclosing sculpted symbols – episcopal mitres and an open Bible. Through the arch is the circular apse, with a tripartite Venetian window filled with Victorian stained-glass. The addition of this vestibule-like apse in 1735 reasserted the spiritual role of the church.


The secular role of the building is illustrated at the west end, where a pilaster separates nave from vestry. The vestry is a large chamber that served as the administrative centre of the new parish. Twenty-four elected officials met around an oak table that still survives in situ. Many of the decisions that shaped early Sunderland were made around this table. The officials involved in administering the parish are commemorated in stalls at the west end of the nave, each labelled with the title of its incumbent. The church’s central entrance porch is housed beneath the tower and is dominated by a statue of Robert Gray (1787–1838), a testament to the great esteem in which this former rector was held by his parishioners. The statue was sculpted by David Dunbar (c.1793–1866) of Carlisle in 1838, and stands upon a monumental plinth. A long, glowing eulogy is inscribed on the base. Gray’s outstanding virtues are celebrated in reliefs of Faith and Charity that stand alongside his memorial: both are images of women nurturing young children. Mediating between nave and vestry is a broad narthex, where a robust font stands on a single baluster of marble. The fluted bowl is surmounted by a vigorous confection of urns, cherubs’ heads and scrolled forms drawn together to form a canopy. This is part of an elaborate contraption allowing the heavy cover to be hoisted away from the bowl when baptisms are in progress. The cable for this mechanism is fed into a tiny dome set into the ceiling. The dome’s inner surface is painted with winged cherubs cavorting in the sky, and its circumference is ringed with the scripture, ‘Suffer the little children to come unto me and forbid them not for such is the kingdom of God.’ [Fig 2]


Holy Trinity was intended to provide church places for the east end of the town, but by 1764 a new church was proposed as a chapel of ease to Holy Trinity. *St John the Evangelist in Prospect Row followed the design precepts of Holy Trinity, though in a more economical form, with much less stonework to relieve the brick. The nave had three tiers, expressed by rows of windows, and a narrow chancel emerged at the east end. Like Holy Trinity, there was a square tower at the west end. The interior had galleries with round-headed arches and paired Ionic columns. The prime mover was John Thornhill (c.1720–1802), who owned Thornhill Wharf and whose house in the suburbs gave its name to the present Thornhill area of town. He led the campaign for the new church and attracted many subscribers, as well as giving £4500 of his own money to the project. The dedication to St John and the fact that Thornhill shared the presentation of the living with the bishop shows that he contributed much. He may even have designed the building, as amateur enthusiasts often produced their own designs in the eighteenth century before architecture became a fully professional activity.8 The foundation stone was laid in 1764 after a grand Masonic procession. The church accommodated 1,200 parishioners; a gallery was provided for Thornhill himself and another for soldiers based at the barracks nearby. Private pews were marked by brass plaques. Despite this, only about half of Thornhill’s outlay was recouped in pew rents.9 When Thornhill died in 1802 he was buried under the altar. St John’s was demolished in 1972, but the original organ case is now preserved in Sunderland Museum.
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2 A miniature painted dome above the font.





The building of these churches demonstrates that the population of the town was growing rapidly, and there must have been much house building to accommodate the expanding population. Little is known of this as few examples survive. However, we do know that a *Rectory was built in Church Street next to Holy Trinity to designs by William Etty. A number of salubrious merchant houses were also built in Church Street soon after it was laid out in the early eighteenth century. Most were five bays wide and had three storeys, plus a basement. The central bay housed the entrance, which would have had a classical doorcase in either stone or timber. Many of these new houses were built as terraces, but were substantial in their own right. Two large houses of solid design survive to give some idea of what was being built.10 No. 10 Church Street was built for the merchant John Freeman in 1711 [Fig 4]. The bricks are laid in Flemish bond and the façade is embellished with architectural details in dressed stone (ashlar). The storeys are divided by horizontal string courses. Steps lead up to a recessed central door with an open triangular pediment above and pilasters on either side. Renewed brickwork above the entrance reveals that the house originally had a doorcase with a larger pediment. The house has sash windows typical of the period, and the glazing bars are particularly fine. Above the windows are brick arches with keystones. The two steeply pitched roof ridges are lined with dark slate, but would have been covered with clay pantiles originally.11 The interior has changed over the years, but retains many significant features. Inside the central passage, most of the doors have architraves and the stairs are framed by an arch with pilasters and keystones. The stairs have stick balusters and a mahogany handrail dating from the early nineteenth century. The use of red brick, sash windows and classical details suggests that these designs were influenced by fashionable developments in London. This form of early eighteenth-century architecture would later be revived in the Victorian period and came to be known as the Queen Anne style. The buildings surviving in Church Street are typical of the examples that inspired this later resurgence. As the East End of Sunderland declined in importance, however, these houses came to be used as warehouses and workshops. No. 10 was converted into a pub, and is now known as the Hearts of Oak.
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3 The interior of Holy Trinity Church.
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4 No. 10 Church Street was built for the merchant John Freeman in 1711. The building is now the Hearts of Oak pub.





Lambton House on nearby High Street was another three-storey, five-bay mansion and was built in about 1737.12 It was notable for an ornate doorcase in the newly fashionable Baroque style, with a segmental pediment supported by scrolled consoles. The Baroque style was an exaggerated form of classicism that flourished in seventeenth-century Europe. It was later adopted by English architects such as Wren and Hawksmoor. Lambton House demonstrates that its influence was felt even in the provinces. There were also some mansions built on the outskirts of the town, but these have been demolished: *Herrington Hall, Thornhill (which may have been designed by John Thornhill), *Pallion Hall, *Ford Hall, *High Barnes, *Low Barnes, *Hendon House, *Holme Land, *Bainbridge Holme and *Redby House. These were mainly plain but substantial houses in the currently fashionable style, but their architects or builders are not recorded.13 High Barnes was built of red brick and had a crude triangular pediment over the entrance. Low Barnes was remodelled in Neoclassical style, with an Ionic portico and giant pilasters.


Among the most impressive of these houses was Ford Hall, built in 1785 [Fig 5]. This was a two-storey, five-bay house with a segmental pediment over the central bay. The entrance boasted a fine semicircular portico on Ionic columns. The house had been owned by John Goodchild, but passed to the Havelock family of shipbuilders. Sir Henry Havelock was born here in 1795, and later won fame as a general in the British Army, helping to quell the Indian Mutiny of 1857. He was commemorated with a statue in Mowbray Park. Ford Hall became the home of William Bell, owner of Monkwearmouth Colliery, but after being sold to Sunderland Council it fell victim to suburban sprawl and was demolished in 1924 to make way for a council housing estate. The newly prosperous coal-fitters built within Sunderland parish in *Fitters Row, but moved into Bishopwearmouth later in the century and laid out Villiers Street, where some of the terraces remain, some with attractive wooden doorcases. These were probably built by builders acting as their own designers, who would have followed the traditional practices of their trade and used published pattern books for stylistic guidance. Of the houses for the poorer classes few traces survive. No designer would have been involved with the process of subdivision, extension and infilling that produced accommodation for the workers, without whom the prosperity of the merchants and ship owners would not have been possible.
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5 One of Sunderland’s most impressive early houses, Ford Hall was built in 1785. (Image courtesy of Sunderland Antiquarian Society)





A workhouse was built on the edge of the Town Moor in 1740. This was a plain brick building with steps leading up to a central door between two broad gables. In Sir Francis Eden’s report into the state of the poor in 1797 the workhouse was described as being ‘in a very good situation. Each apartment has four or five beds with wooden bottoms, and are filled with chaff. Each bed has two blankets, one sheet and rug.’14 An important survival of Sunderland’s early growth is the Donnison School, built alongside the workhouse in Church Walk. This was erected as a girls’ school endowed under the will of Elizabeth Donnison in 1764. Thirty-six poor girls were taught reading, writing and arithmetic, as well as needlework. The school is a single-storey building in simple red brick. Like the neighbouring Holy Trinity Church, the bricks were made of clay excavated from the Town Moor. The school was extended in 1827 with a three bay section with round-headed windows and doors.


The commercial buildings that were required to maintain the trade of the port have largely gone. One notable remnant is the Patent Ropery built by Grimshaw and Webster in 1797 at Deptford [Fig 6]. This is the world’s oldest factory for machine-made rope, a commodity that was in constant demand in ports such as Sunderland. In 1793 a Sunderland schoolmaster named Richard Fothergill patented a hemp-spinning machine. When Fothergill died, his executor John Grimshaw formed a partnership with Roland Webster, Ralph Hills and Michael Scarth to capitalise on the rights to Fothergill’s invention. Webster (1751–1809) was a magistrate and former mayor of Stockton. He provided the finance for the erection of a ropery and gave the building his name. Built on a sloping site, the main block was four storeys tall. It made no concessions to architectural style, but contrived to be entirely satisfying in its proportions. The ropery survives as one of a tiny number of eighteenth-century industrial buildings in Sunderland. The original structure is still recognisable, but numerous alterations and additions have been made, such as the removal of a pediment that once dominated the façade. However, the building retains good cast-iron window frames. The most important feature was of course the newly developed steam-powered machinery that could make rope more efficiently and in greater quantities than traditional methods.15
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6 Grimshaw and Webster’s Patent Ropery at Deptford is the world’s oldest factory for machine-made rope.
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7 Fulwell Mill was built in about 1821 and is the most complete early windmill in the North East.





A notable feature of Sunderland’s landscape in this period was the proliferation of windmills. There were around a dozen in the district by the early eighteenth century. Many of these were built to a post mill design, which allowed the wooden superstructure to rotate around a large central post. A disadvantage of this design was that high winds could blow the entire structure over, as happened to the old mill at Hendon. A new type of mill was introduced in the seventeenth century, consisting of a substantial stone tower with a revolving cap.16 Fulwell Mill is an example of this later type [Fig 7]. It was built in about 1821 on the site of an earlier mill in the local magnesian limestone that is so characteristic of Sunderland’s vernacular architecture. The tower is built upon a two-storey reefing podium, a high round structure with round-headed doorways at the north and west. These are now blocked, but there are arches at the south and east with metal doors. The base is dressed with brick and the tower is rendered. The tower tapers as it ascends and terminates with a domed cap with sails and a fantail. Fulwell Mill is an important remnant of Sunderland’s industrial archaeology, the most complete early windmill in the North East. The structure was restored in 1951 and 1987 and now operates as a museum.


Wearmouth Bridge


The most famous structure in Sunderland was *Wearmouth Bridge, which opened in 1796 [Fig 8]. This was only the second cast-iron bridge in the world and had a span even more daring than that of its predecessor, at Coalbrookdale, Shropshire (1779). To solve the problem of bridging the Wear without interrupting the river traffic and without prohibitive cost, Rowland Burdon (c.1757–1838) was forced to examine the viability of using the untried technology of cast iron. A survey was conducted in 1791, probably by the Bishopwearmouth coal-fitter Thomas Richardson, and the resultant report advised the use of iron. There is much debate about who was responsible for the design of the bridge. The renowned architects Sir John Soane, John Nash and Robert Mylne all offered advice to Burdon. A model made for Thomas Paine of a bridge in America may have been an influence upon Burdon and his supporters. The engineer in charge of the construction process was Thomas Wilson (c.1750–c.1820), who was born in Monkwearmouth and ran a small mathematical school before taking on the task. Wilson was regarded as a good mathematician and he was also a Freemason, as were many supporters of the project. Wilson was involved with the technical elements of the new bridge from the early stages and came to be the supervisor of the work, living in a house built at the south end of the bridge. He probably did the detailed design with the practical help of the iron founders Walker Brothers of Rotherham and their foreman William Yates, though his name has largely been forgotten. Wilson went on to be involved with the erection of other bridges using the same principles of construction and was regarded as the leading designer of iron bridges, influencing Telford and Rennie. However, Wilson’s reputation has not endured because some of his projects ran into technical difficulties, and his bridges at Staines and Yarm both fell.
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8 Wearmouth Bridge was designed by Thomas Wilson and opened in 1796. (Image courtesy of Sunderland Public Libraries)





A river crossing that was not affected by tides and bad weather had immediate benefits for the town. Wearmouth Bridge was a superbly elegant structure, vaulting the river in a single span of 236 ft. The structure consisted of six ribs, each made of 105 cast-iron blocks fixed together by iron rods bolted to grooves in their sides. The bridge was a remarkable feat of engineering, more than double the span of Abraham Darby’s bridge in Coalbrookdale, but at 922 tons only three-quarters its weight. The foundation stone was laid amid grand Masonic ceremony in September 1793, indicating how vital Freemasonry had been to the project. A procession of 200 brethren from Phoenix Lodge was led by the provincial grand master, William Henry Lambton. The bridge became a major source of pride to the townsfolk, and its image was reproduced on locally made glassware and pottery. For many years the bridge was a site that warranted travellers making a detour to see it. Subsequently, though, it needed extensive strengthening when unequal expansion of the iron ribs caused buckling. The local engineer John Grimshaw (c.1762–1840) reinforced the structure in 1805.17 In 1853 the abutments of the bridge were damaged by blasting to extend the bottle works on the south-west side. Temporary repairs were made, but further inspection indicated the need to rebuild the bridge. This task was undertaken by the great engineer Robert Stephenson (1803–59) in 1856. His reputation was then at its height after the opening of the Britannia Bridge over the Menai Straits (1846–50). He was in semi-retirement and it was the last project he undertook in Britain. While the design retained several features of the old one it was widened and levelled and lost some of its elegance. It was completed by 1859, though Stephenson was too ill to supervise the work personally. The new bridge proved to be strong enough to bear the tramway system that was introduced in the 1870s and electrified in the early 1900s.18


Phoenix Lodge


Freemasonry was integral to the early development of Sunderland, powering many of the enterprises that shaped the town. Freemasonry is a fraternity in which the stonemason’s craft and its exalted form – architecture – are used as metaphors for the structure of the universe and form the basis of a moral code. For example, Freemasons must profess a belief in a Supreme Being, who is conceived as the Great Architect of the Universe. Accordingly, Masonic tradition is pervaded by architectural symbolism. Sunderland possesses the oldest Masonic hall still used for its original purpose in the world. Queen Street Masonic Hall is a remarkable survival of Sunderland’s early development [Fig 9]. It was built in 1785 to rehouse the King George Lodge, established in 1755. The original building of 1778 was in Vine Street, but this was destroyed by fire on 20 November 1783, which led to a new hall being built. The name Phoenix Lodge was adopted in reference to this resurgence from the flames. The intention was to build a hall similar to the original, and this task was completed by John Bonner (1741–1811), a builder and joiner who was a member of Phoenix Lodge. Bonner was from the family of timber merchants who gave their name to Bonnersfield on the north bank of the Wear, and he is not credited with any other buildings. Therefore he may have used plans from the former building and just supervised the construction, but the external details of the buildings do differ. The hall was built of brick over stone pillars, and these allow for a cellar with an earth floor. The façade is a simple classical design consisting of one tall storey and three bays. Befitting a ‘society with secrets’, the exterior is purposefully inscrutable, faced with plain brick and articulated only with a shallow blind arch and mock windows.19 The central bay features an aedicule with Masonic symbols – a square and compasses. In Masonic lore the square symbolises morality, and Masons are expected to ‘square their actions by the square of virtue’. The compasses signify wisdom of conduct, since Masons are obliged to ‘circumscribe their desires and keep their passions within due bounds toward all mankind’.
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9 Queen Street Masonic Hall was designed by John Bonner in 1785.





Despite its unprepossessing exterior, the immaculately preserved interior survives as a monument to Freemasonry and the central role it has played in the development of Sunderland [Fig 10]. It follows the design of the original hall very closely and the splendid fittings were all contemporary. The hall was built as a double cube, a form with deep symbolic resonance within Masonic tradition. In this case, the shape was partly dictated by the site, which was previously occupied by a bowling green. The walls are lined with plaster panelling and adorned with gilded symbols and crests, some of which were reproduced from the previous hall. The chairs were acquired from St John’s Lodge in Newcastle, which had closed. A dais stands at one end, supporting the master’s throne, which is executed in wood with bright gilding. Consisting of a broken pediment on fluted Doric columns, the throne is classical in style and takes a very architectural form, in celebration of the Mason’s craft. Masonic symbols are displayed on the frieze. Three alcoves in the rear wall are encapsulated by a round arch on tall Doric columns. These are made from wood but painted to resemble marble, with bright veins of colour running across their surface. The arch is filled with a golden fan-shaped pediment suggesting a sunburst.
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10 The interior of Queen Street Masonic Hall, with Master’s Throne and sunburst pediment.
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11 Mosaic pavement in Queen Street Masonic Hall.





At the opposite end of the chamber is an organ gallery bearing a crescent moon emblem in blue and gold. The organ was made by the North East organ builder John Donaldson (d.1807), and is the only example of his work still in its original location. Beneath the organ is another classical throne for the senior warden. Masonic tradition holds that the Temple of Solomon in Jerusalem was decorated with a mosaic pavement of black and white stones. In accordance with this belief, the floor of the hall has a mosaic design with square and compass emblems at the corners [Fig 11]. On the ceiling is a circular emblem with wavering rays of light, at the centre of which is the letter G within an equilateral triangle surrounded by stars. This reputedly represents God as the centre of the universe. The hall has a number of tracing boards – painted panels depicting the various symbols of Freemasonry. These are used as teaching aids when a master explains the concepts of Freemasonry to new members. The tracing boards are in the form of double squares and are infused with mysterious symbolism. One features sun and moon emblems, together with the architectural Orders, stonemasons’ implements and a mosaic pavement. Another presents the image of a temple with a golden staircase leading to a corridor, at the end of which is a curtain parted to reveal the letter G. These three panels are pervaded by cryptic letters and numbers.
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